

Reproductive, maternal and child health in Timiskaming

2021



Table of contents

Table of contents	2
Highlights	1
Methodology and interpretation	2
Introduction	3
Health equity considerations	2
Chapter 1 – General demographic characteristics of families	7
Family composition	
Families living with low income	7
Family income	
Low income	8
Families with social assistance	9
Families with concerns about money	9
Families who experience food insecurity	9
Families who are involved with Child Protective Services	10
Families with a parent with a disability	10
Families with a parent with mental illness	
Chapter 2 – Population-level reproductive health	
Number of births in Timiskaming	12
Crude birth rate	
Fertility rate	13
Pregnancy rate	14
Therapeutic abortion rate	15
Stillbirths	16
Life expectancy at birth	16
Chapter 3 – Determinants of maternal health	
Social determinants of health for mothers	
Income and employment	
Education	
Social support and social exclusion	
Maternal age at time of birth	
Maternal behaviours and risk and protective factors	
Alcohol use during pregnancy	
Smoking during pregnancy	
Other drug and substance use during pregnancy	
Nutrition	
Healthy weight gain during pregnancy	24
Physical activity	
Preparation for parenting	
Maternal health conditions during pregnancy	
Gestational diabetes	
Maternal hypertension disorder	
Mental health concerns	28

Chapter 4 – General birth outcomes	29
Parity	29
Multiple births	30
Gestational age	30
Birth weight	31
Congenital anomalies	32
Chapter 5 – Infant, child and adolescent health	33
Infant feeding	33
Initiating breastfeeding	33
Infant feeding 48 hours after birth	33
Infant feeding 6 months after birth	33
Infant, child and adolescent mortality	34
Infant, child and adolescent hospitalization	35
Childhood injuries	36
Early learning and education	36
Communication skills and general knowledge	38
Physical health and wellbeing	38
Social competence	38
Emotional maturity	39
Language and cognitive development	39
Mother or infant does not have a primary care provider	39
Growth and development	40
General health	40
Oral health	41
Visual health	41
School students' vaccination rates	41
Chapter 6 - Physical, chemical and built environments	44
Climate change implications for children and youth	44
Conclusion	45
About the data sources used in this report	46
Appendix A: Timiskaming Heath Unit boundaries	47
References	48

Highlights

Healthy children start with healthy infants, healthy infants start with a healthy pregnancy, and a healthy pregnancy starts with healthy women. Healthy women and families start with a healthy society and environment where there are equitable opportunities.

Pregnancy and childbirth have an impact on the mental, physical, emotional and socioeconomic health of women and their families.¹

This report aims to highlight the mechanisms by which various factors can directly and indirectly impact the health status of a given population along the life course of its residents. The social determinants of health are at play even before conception. For example, a women who is low income may not have the means to seek all necessary resources during the pre-conception period, pregnancy and birth, increasing the risk for infant anomalies, injury and mortality.

In Timiskaming there is higher infant mortality (737 per 100,000 compared to 481 per 100,000 in Ontario) and higher infant hospitalization due to injuries (375 per 100,000 compared to 150 per 100,000 in Ontario).

The Timiskaming Health Unit ranks lower compared to Ontario in a variety of social determinants of health and other factors that impact child health such as social support, breastfeeding initiation and substance use during and directly after pregnancy:

- 4% of mothers didn't have support from a partner and 1% had no assistance with parenting or caring for their child
- 18% of mothers in Timiskaming reported smoking, which is significantly higher compared to Ontario (6%)
- 85% of mothers in Timiskaming reported initiating breastfeeding, which is lower compared to Ontario (94%)
- 46% of mothers had one or more mental health concerns, which is significantly higher compared to Ontario (21%)

However, children in the Timiskaming area compared closely to children in Ontario in terms of various early development categories such as motor skills and cognitive development.

It is imperative to build on both the strengths and weakness of a community in order to decrease the impact of social disparities and improve the quality of maternal and child health.



Methodology and interpretation

Reference to Timiskaming means the Timiskaming Health Unit area, which includes the District of Timiskaming and the Municipality of Temagami. See Appendix A for more details on Timiskaming Health Unit's boundaries.

This report is intended to be used by public health staff and community partners to help understand preconception health and maternal and child health in Timiskaming. This report can be used to advocate for healthy practices and policies and to assist in identifying areas of need and informing decision making for local programs.

Data in this report were selected to address the population health assessment and surveillance requirements outlined in the Healthy Growth and Development section of the Ontario Public Health Standards.² The Ontario Public Health Standards apply to infants, children and youth aged 0 to 18 years. Where applicable, indicators were calculated based on recommendations and calculation methods outlined by the <u>Association for Public Health Epidemiologists in Ontario</u>. Data in this report do not portray a complete picture of reproductive, maternal and child health, but rather reflect data that was available and most closely describes the topic. Where possible, data for the Timiskaming Health Unit area were compared to Northeastern Ontario and Ontario.

In this report a statistical difference is one that is not likely due to chance alone, more specifically that there is only a one in twenty chance that the difference is not true. Smaller sample sizes, as often seen in Timiskaming, make it more difficult to detect statistical differences as there is more uncertainty around the precision of the estimate.

Since Timiskaming has a small population, in some instances these analyses have combined several years of data to increase sample sizes. When the sample size is small and there is uncertainty around the estimate, it is marked with an ^E to encourage the reader to interpret the estimate with caution. When sample sizes are too small for the results to be released (less than 5–6, depending on the data source), it is indicated with an ^F.

Further details on the data sources can be found at the end of this report.

Introduction

Healthy children start with healthy infants, healthy infants start with a healthy pregnancy, and a healthy pregnancy starts with healthy women. Preconception, whether before a first or a subsequent pregnancy, is an opportune period to improve the health of women to prevent adverse maternal and infant outcomes. Healthy women and families start with a healthy society and environment where there are equitable opportunities. There are also other notable links with reproductive outcomes, for example, links with overall health and chronic diseases in adulthood. These links highlight the need to address various reproductive outcomes in preconception health and during pregnancy and early childhood.

Public health has begun to play closer attention to the gaps that exist in populations in which some groups show better health outcomes and others show worse health outcomes.

By understanding all these trends, we hope to identify areas where the rates in Timiskaming are consistent with Ontario rates and areas where the rates indicate better or worse outcomes. This will assist in evidence-informed decision making for local policy decisions.



Health equity considerations

"Health equity is created when individuals have fair opportunity to reach their fullest health potential."³ Health <u>in</u>equities are avoidable differences that are unfair and unjust, and are related to social and environmental factors like income, social status, race, gender, education and the physical environment.³ For instance, differences in socioeconomic status are directly associated to inequalities in child development.⁴ These inequalities are evident across various cognitive, social, behavioral and health outcomes in children.⁴ It is known that if they are not addressed, the discrepancies can grow over time and accumulate throughout the life course.⁴

The environment a child is born into can be vastly different depending on various factors like race, caregiver's financial resources, education level, social support and home environment, to name a few.⁴ Therefore, interpreting the data and information in this report with a health equity lens is necessary to truly appreciate the impact on individuals, families, communities and population health.



Chapter 1 – General demographic characteristics of families

Demographic and socioeconomic status of families and women have an important impact on reproductive, maternal and child health. The demographic characteristics of families outlined below can help to provide context in understanding the families, women and children in Timiskaming.

The indicators in this section do not provide a holistic representation of the demographic characteristics of families. Rather, the indicators were selected based on the data and information available at the time of writing this report.

Family composition

In Timiskaming there were 3,335 couples with children in 2016.⁷ Of these couples with children, 1,405 had one child, 1,305 had two children, and 630 had three or more children.⁷ There were also 1,415 lone-parents with children.⁷ Of these lone-parent families, 905 had one child, 380 had two or more children, and 140 had three or more children.⁷

In 2019, 6% of Timiskaming infants had a mother who was a single parent. This is not statistically different compared to Ontario infants who are born to a single mother (4%) during the same time period.⁵

Families living with low income

Income is perhaps the most important social determinant of health in terms of degree of impact. Both directly and indirectly, income is responsible for:

- Shaping overall living conditions
- Affecting psychological functioning
- Influencing health-related behaviours, and
- Determining the quality of other social determinants of health such as food security, housing and other basic prerequisites of health.⁶

Family income

In Timiskaming, couples without children (consisting only of two adults) had a median after-tax income of \$62,535, couples with children had a median after-tax income of \$92,777, and lone-parent families had a median after-tax income of \$44,096 (*Figure 1*).⁷





Low income

The low income measure (LIM) accounts for income and household size to reflect how the need of a household increases as the number of people increases.⁷ The current cut-offs based on household size do not take into account duration and exclude those who have incomes barely above the cut-offs but who may have similar living situations. These measures also exclude Indigenous people living on-reserve.

Table 1: Low income
measure thresholds (after-
tax) by household size,
Timiskaming, 2015. ⁸

Household size	Income
1 person	\$22,133
2 persons	\$31,301
3 persons	\$38,335
4 persons	\$44,266
5 persons	\$49,491
6 persons	\$54,215
7 persons	\$58,558

When the after-tax income of a person falls below the thresholds outlined in *Table 1*, they are considered to be living in low income.

In Timiskaming, 5,675 people live with low income, which is 18% of

residents (Figure 2).⁷ Of these, 1,235 are children and youth under the age

of 17 years (20% of all children and youth), 3,095 are aged 18 to 64 years (16% of all adults), and 1,340 are aged 65 years or older (20% of all seniors).⁷ The children group can be broken down further to 0 to 5 year olds, where 23%, or 470 children, live in low income (20% for Ontario).⁷





Families with social assistance

In an attempt to offset some of the negative impacts of social disadvantage, Ontario has two social assistance programs available for those in need: the Ontario Works (OW) program and the Ontario Disability Support Program (ODSP). This report considers enrollment in either of these programs as receiving social assistance.

Over time, the proportion of families receiving social assistance in Timiskaming has remained relatively stable around 10%, whereas the proportion of families in Ontario has been slightly increasing (*Figure 3*).⁶





Families with concerns about money

From 2017 to 2019, 2% of families with infants had concerns about not having enough money to pay for housing or rent, food, clothing, utilities and other basic necessities.⁵ This rate was not statistically different from families in Ontario, where 4% of families expressed concerns about money.⁵

Families who experience food insecurity

Food insecurity refers to the inadequate or insecure access to food due to financial constraints. It negatively impacts physical, mental and social health, and increases health care system costs. Food insecurity reflects a household's material circumstance, taking into account income, assets (like property) and other resources a household could draw upon.⁹

From 2009 to 2014, 91% of households in Timiskaming were food secure, 2%^E were marginally food insecure, 4%^E were moderately food insecure and 3%^E were severely food insecure.¹⁰

The Nutritious Food Basket survey measures and monitors the cost of basic healthy eating based on food items that follow Canada's Food Guide. The lowest available price of each item was recorded from six grocery stores in Timiskaming and averaged to calculate the cost of feeding a family. In 2019, the cost of the Nutritious Food Basket for a family of four was \$219.27 per week, which is a \$2.74 increase since 2017. The cost of the Nutritious Food Basket was higher than the Ontario average of \$204.00.¹¹

Families who are involved with Child Protective Services

The foundations of health for a child are stable and responsive relationships, safe and supportive environments and appropriate nutrition. When these needs are not met, it can result in mental and physical health consequences.¹²

It is important to note that there can be a range of risk and needs associated with Child Protective Services. The goal of Child Protective Services is to ensure children are safe and can thrive with emphasis on keeping families together. Figure 4: Proportion of infants whose families are involved in child protective services, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2015–2019⁵



This indicator includes infants with parent(s) or caregiver(s) who have been involved with Child Protection Services as a parent. In 2019, 13% of Timiskaming infants had parent(s) who were involved with Child Protective Services.⁵ This was statistically higher than Ontario (3%).⁵ There were no major changes over time in either Timiskaming or Ontario (*Figure 4*).⁵

Families with a parent with a disability

The term disability refers to a broad range and degree of conditions, some visible and some invisible. A disability can be present from birth, caused by trauma or developed over time. There are physical limitations, mental and learning disabilities, hearing or vision disabilities, epilepsy, mental health disabilities and addictions and environmental sensitivities, to name a few.¹³

Ableism is a conscious or unconscious belief system that considers people with disabilities as being less worthy of respect and consideration, less able to contribute and participate or of less inherent value than others. It underlies paternalistic behaviour toward people with disabilities and rationalizes the exclusion, neglect, abuse and exploitation of people with disabilities. Ableism may be embedded in institutions, systems or the broader culture of a society.¹³

Barriers to equality and inclusion continue to exist for people with disabilities. Women with disabilities experience health, social and health care disparities. Although pregnancy rates among women with disabilities are increasing, there is limited data available about the preconception and pregnancy outcomes of these women.¹⁴ "Disability" continues to be the most frequently cited ground of

discrimination under the Ontario Human Rights Code.¹³ Overall, Ontarians with disabilities continue to have lower educational achievement levels, a higher unemployment rate, lower income and are less likely to live in adequate, affordable housing than people without disabilities.¹⁵

A disability in this section is defined as parent(s) or caregiver(s) with disability such as a mental or physical challenge that may impact their parenting. Between 2017 and 2019, 2% of infants in Timiskaming had a parent or caregiver with a disability, which was not statistically lower than the 1% of families in Ontario.⁵

Families with a parent with mental illness



In 2019, 40% of infants in Timiskaming had a parent or caregiver with a history of depression, anxiety or other mental illness. This is statistically higher than families in Ontario (19%).⁵ There were no statistical differences over time in Timiskaming (*Figure 5*).⁵ It is important to note that this measure is self-reported and not the diagnosis from a medical practitioner.





Chapter 2 – Population-level reproductive health

Population-level reproductive health indicators are standard indicators used to compare overall reproductive health between different geographical areas. Reproductive health indicators are highly influenced by social and economic factors such as income and education, as outlined in *Chapter 1*.

Number of births in Timiskaming

The average number of live births in Timiskaming over the last five years (2016–2020) was 341 per year.^{16,17} There was a change in the data source for vital statistics from 2012 to 2013; however, the overlap in the two sources suggests that they are comparable (not shown).

Crude birth rate



Definition

The crude birth rate is the total number of live births per 1,000 people, without adjusting for other factors like age and socioeconomic status.

The crude birth rate provides a basic description of the reproduction in a population. Because the rate does not take existing demographic factors into account, comparing the crude rate of one population to another is difficult. As an example, an area with a higher number of women of childbearing age will have a higher crude birth rate.

The crude birth rate in Timiskaming was lower than Ontario's rate from 2006 to 2012, then it was not statistically different from Ontario's rate from 2013 to 2019 (*Figure 6*).¹⁸





Fertility rate



Definition

The fertility rate is the average number of live births per 1,000 women of reproductive age (15–49 years). It is calculated by dividing the number of live births by the number of women in the population of reproductive age.

While the crude birth rate considers the number of births to the whole population, the fertility rate considers the number of births for women who are of childbearing age.

The fertility rate in Timiskaming was higher than Ontario from 2013 to 2019.¹⁸ When considering Timiskaming's rate over time, Timiskaming's rate was higher in 2016 and 2019 compared to 2006. Ontario's fertility rate showed a very gradual decrease over several years (*Figure 7*).¹⁸





In general, fertility rates indicate that women in Timiskaming give birth at a younger age than women in Ontario. From 2018–2019, the fertility rates in Timiskaming were higher than Ontario in every age group under 30 years of age (15–19, 20–24, 25–29 years), and lower than Ontario for the 35–39 age group. There were no statistical differences found between fertility rates in Timiskaming and Ontario for the other age groups (*Figure* 8).¹⁸ In Ontario, the highest fertility rate was in the 30–34 year age group, whereas in Timiskaming the 25–29 year age group represented the highest fertility rate.¹⁸

Figure 8: Fertility rate (per 1,000) among women aged 15–49 years by age, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2018–2019¹⁸



Pregnancy rate



Definition

The pregnancy rate is the total number of pregnancies per 1,000 women of reproductive age. Pregnancies include live births, stillbirths and therapeutic abortions.

Pregnancy rates provide an estimate of the number of pregnancies in a population. The pregnancy rates for women in Timiskaming in age groups under 30 (15–19, 20–24, 25–29 years) were statistically higher

than Ontario (*Figure 9*).¹⁸ The pregnancy rate for women in Timiskaming in the 35–39 year age group was statistically lower than Ontario.¹⁸ In Ontario, the age group with the highest pregnancy rate was the 30 to 34 age group and in Timiskaming the highest pregnancy rate was in the 25 to 29 age group.¹⁸ As with the fertility rate, there was no statistical difference between Timiskaming and Ontario in the 30–34 year age group.¹⁸





Therapeutic abortion rate



Definition

The therapeutic abortion rate is the number of induced abortions per 1,000 women of reproductive age.

In both Timiskaming and Ontario, the therapeutic abortion rate was highest in the 20 to 24 year age group, followed by 25 to 29, then the 30 to 34 year age group.¹⁹ The only statistical difference was for the 35 to 39 year age group, where Timiskaming's rate was statistically lower than Ontario's rate (*Figure 10*).¹⁹



Figure 10: Therapeutic abortion rate (per 1,000) by age, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2016–2018¹⁹

Stillbirths



Definition

A stillbirth is the birth of a fetus which does not breathe or show signs of life at the time of birth. The fetus must weigh at least 500 grams at birth or must have completed 20 weeks of gestation. Death may occur before or after delivery.

Stillbirths account for approximatly one third of all fetal deaths.²² Stillbirths can be caused by congenital anomalies, placental abruption, umbilical cord accidents, infection or maternal complications such as diabetes.²² However, 25% of stillbirths do not have a known cause. The following risk factors can increase the rate of stillbirths: prior stillbirths, low socioeconomic status, an older maternal age, first-time mothers, maternal smoking, high pre-pregnancy weight, multiple pregnancies and placental factors.²²

In Timiskaming, 0.3% of all births (including all live and stillbirths) result in a stillbirth, which is the same as Ontario (2014-2018).¹⁸

Life expectancy at birth

Life expectancy at birth describes the average number of years a newborn can be expected to live if the current death trends continue. People living with low incomes and those living in poorer neighbourhoods tend to have shorter life expectancies.²⁰

Timiskaming residents are expected to live 79 years, which is not statistically different from the 80 years that Northeastern Ontario residents are expected to live, but is statistically lower than the 83 years that Ontario residents are expected to live (*Figure 11*).²¹

Life expectancy in Ontario and Northeastern Ontario is increasing over time. Timiskaming's life expectancy throughout the years did not statistically increase over time (*Figure 11*). The increase in life expectancy over time is a result of improved nutrition, better hygiene, easier accessibility to safe drinking water, effective birth control, immunization and other medical interventions.²¹



Figure 11: Life expectancy at birth, Timiskaming, Northeastern Ontario, Ontario, 2006–2017²¹

Chapter 3 – Determinants of maternal health

Women who are healthy before (preconception health) and during their pregnancy are more likely to have a healthy pregnancy and a healthy baby.

Health is shaped by many factors, the most important of which are environmental and social conditions. These conditions, called "social determinants of health," influence both the woman's and the baby's health. Some important social determinants of health for mothers are income, employment, education and social support. There are also factors that influence health that cannot be changed, such as age and genetic factors.

Behaviours and lifestyle choices made by the mother before and during pregnancy can also influence the health outcome of the pregnancy and the child.

Social determinants of health for mothers

Income and employment

Income is perhaps the most important social determinant of health. Level of income impacts health both directly and indirectly by shaping overall living conditions, affects psychological functioning, influences health-related behaviours, and determines the quality of other social determinants of health such as food security, housing and other basic prerequisites of health.⁶

Income and employment data specifically for mothers in Timiskaming were not available; however, the income section in Chapter 1 provides information on family income, low income, families with social assistance and families with concerns about money.

Education

Health improves with education level because education helps people to gain the knowledge and skills for problem solving, provides a sense of control and also increases job opportunities, leading to income security.²⁵ For mothers, a lower education is associated with higher risks of preterm birth, low birth weight, stillbirth and infant mortality.²² Women who have a higher education level are more likely to have healthier maternal behaviours like seeking prenatal care early, attending prenatal classes, supplementing with folic acid, not smoking or drinking and choosing to breastfeed.²²

The education level of mothers in Timiskaming is illustrated in *Figure 12*. The highest proportion of mothers in Timiskaming in 2016-2017 had postsecondary education (36%). However, caution should be used when interpreting this information because 13% of mothers' education levels were unknown (missing data).²³ Nonetheless, these data provide an estimation of education levels for mothers in Timiskaming. It is not possible to test for statistical differences between mothers and general education levels in Timiskaming or Ontario due to differing data sources.





In general, educational attainment levels for the Timiskaming population are lower compared to the province, with fewer Timiskaming residents completing high school and a university degree.^{7,24}

Social support and social exclusion

Better health is associated with support from families, friends and communities.²⁵ Social support provides emotional reassurance and helps to cope with adversity.²⁵ These social support networks could be very important in helping people solve problems and deal with adversity, as well as in maintaining a sense of mastery and control over life circumstances. Additionally, the caring and respect that occur in social relationships, and the resulting sense of satisfaction and wellbeing, act as a buffer against health problems.²⁵

Social support

Of the mothers who had a child in 2018:

- 4% indicated that they did not have a partner, father, or support person involved with the care of their baby,
- 1% could not identify a person who could assist with the parenting of their baby,
- 1% could not identify a person who could assist with the <u>care</u> of their baby,
- 1% identified that their relationship with their partner is strained.²⁶

Social exclusion refers to specific groups being denied the opportunity to participate in daily life because they are marginalized by society, which limits access to social, cultural and economic resources. People who are socially excluded are more likely to be unemployed, earn lower wages, have limited access to health and social services, have fewer means of furthering their education and have little influence upon decisions made by governments and other institutions.⁶ Both community and individual health are deeply impacted by marginalization.²⁷

Families requiring newcomer support

A newcomer is defined as someone living in Canada for less than five years. Newcomers may lack social support or be experiencing social isolation. At this time, there were too few infants whose families required newcomer support to produce a valid estimate for Timiskaming. In Ontario, 4% of infants' families required newcomer support.⁵

Maternal age at time of birth

Teen mothers have a higher risk of health problems such as poor maternal weight gain and anemia. Their babies are at a higher risk of having a lower birth weight or being preterm.²² These poor health outcomes can also be related to a disadvantaged social environment, not completing school, biological immaturity, social deprivation, inadequate prenatal care and increased likelihood of risky health behaviors such as smoking.²² Teen pregnancy is more common in disadvantaged teens and is known to be associated with social, educational and employment problems later in life.

While there are risks to teen pregnancy, it is important to support teens that do become pregnant and provide an environment which helps them to make healthy choices. Therefore, messaging and actions must be carefully considered to avoid stigma that might lead to unintentional negative health impacts.²⁸

Furthermore, it is important to apply a cultural lens when considering teen pregnancy. For instance, some Indigenous communities feel that having children in late teens is healthy and culturally appropriate. This leads to creating a community atmosphere of support for teenage parenting.²⁹

In comparison to younger mothers, older mothers have greater general risks during pregnancy and labour, are more likely to have a chronic illness and are at a higher risk of fetal chromosomal abnormalities.²² Older mothers are also more likely to have a multiple birth both for natural reasons and because they are more likely to use assisted human reproduction.²² However, older women having their first child usually have a higher level of education and socioeconomic status, seek prenatal care earlier, are less likely to have pre-pregnancy obesity and are also less likely to smoke during pregnancy. In general, older women who have no chronic conditions have healthy babies.²²

In 2017, the average age of mothers in Timiskaming was 28 years, which was statistically lower than Ontario's average age of 31 years.³⁰ There was no change over time for Timiskaming's rate, but Ontario's rate very slowly increased since 2006.

Figure 13 depicts the percentage of Timiskaming and Ontario mothers by age for 2019 and 2020 combined. A greater proportion of Timiskaming mothers were under the age of 30 compared to Ontario, and a smaller proportion were over the age of 30.¹⁸



Figure 13: Proportion births by age of mother, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2019–2020¹⁶

Maternal behaviours and risk and protective factors

Personal health practices refer to the actions by which people can prevent diseases, promote self-care and make choices that enhance health.^{25,28}

People may experience stress due to not having enough money, being unemployed, having unsafe housing, discrimination, trauma or violence, which may result in more physical strain on their body. Ongoing stress can weaken the immune system, which makes people more at risk of illness and disease. People who experience high levels of stress may also relieve these pressures by adopting unhealthy coping behaviours, such as substance use (including tobacco, alcohol and other substances). These behaviours are effective in bringing momentary relief and may be used as a response to adverse life circumstances, but they make the situation worse in the long run.⁶

This section largely refers to health behaviours during the life stage of pregnancy. However, it is important to note that good preconception health can improve both maternal and child health outcomes. In Ontario, approximately 40% of all pregnancies are unplanned, which stresses the importance of identifying, managing, reducing and preventing risk factors even before pregnancy.³¹

Alcohol use during pregnancy

Alcohol consumption during pregnancy can cause fetal alcohol spectrum disorder, which is associated with birth defects, behavioral and emotional issues and physical, brain and central nervous system disabilities.³² Research suggests that it may also increase the risk of the child later developing adult alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence.²²

In 2020, 3.8% of Timiskaming women reported alcohol use during their pregnancy, which was not statistically different from Ontario's rate of 2.3%.³³ From 2017 to 2020, the majority of the alcohol exposure happened prior to receiving their pregnancy confirmation (2.6% of the total 3.7%, which is approximately two-thirds).³³ The next largest majority was from women who drank less than one drink per month (0.7% of the total 3.3%).³³

Timiskaming's rates are not statistically different from Ontario's rates for any of the years shown in *Figure 14.* Estimates for 2012 and 2014 were not available due to small sample sizes.

Smoking during pregnancy

Smoking during pregnancy can increase the risk of sudden infant death syndrome, stillbirth, placental complications and an overall increased risk of infant mortality and morbidity.²² Smoking rates during pregnancy are higher among women with low socioeconomic status.²²

In 2020, 18% of mothers were smoking at the time of the newborn's birth, which was statistically higher than Ontario's rate (*Figure 15*).³³ Of the women who smoked, 61% smoked less than 10 cigarettes per day and 38% smoked more than 10 cigarettes per day.³³

Other drug and substance use during pregnancy

Drug use during pregnancy can cause harm in a variety of manners depending on the specific drug used. Drugs can affect the fetus directly, alter the function of the placenta, cause harmful contractions of the uterus, or affect the fetus indirectly such as altering the mother's blood pressure, which may reduce blood and nutrient flow to the baby.³⁴

Figure 14: Proportion of women who reported alcohol use during pregnancy, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr - Dec)–2020³³



Figure 15: Proportion of women who smoked at the time of their newborn's birth, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr-Dec)–2020³³



Drug or substance use during pregnancy in Timiskaming women from 2012 to 2020 generally ranged around 4% or 5% with the exception of 2018 and 2019.³³ In 2018 there was a drastic increase in the number of women who reported using cannabis, and in 2019, 2% of women reported using drugs or substances (*Figure 16*).³³

Timiskaming's rate was statistically higher than Ontario's rate in 2014 and 2018.³³ Figure 16: Proportion of women who did drugs or other substances during pregnancy, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr - Dec)–2020³³



Nutrition

Diet in preconception and early pregnancy can affect birth and maternal outcomes through several mechanisms. Insufficient folate intake increases the risk of neural tube defects; iron deficiency increases the risk of early delivery and development of iron deficiency in the child within the first few years of life; and vitamin D deficiency in the mother increases the risk for infant vitamin D deficiency.^{35,36}

While iron and folate supplementation is recommended during pregnancy and vitamin D supplementation is recommended after birth, these supplements should be taken in addition to a diet based on Canada's Food Guide.³⁷

There is no data specific to the diet of Timiskaming women during pre-pregnancy or during pregnancy.

Folic acid supplementation

Folic acid supplementation reduces the risk of neural tube defects such as spina bifida and anencephaly.²² In addition to eating according to Canada's Food Guide, it is recommended that women of childbearing age should take 0.4mg of folic acid daily.²² In 1998, folic acid was added to all white flour, pasta and cornmeal in Canada, which was associated with a 42% decrease in the rates of neural tube defects.²²

In 2020, 85% of the pregnant women in Timiskaming supplemented with folic acid (*Figure 17*).³⁸ Among women in Timiskaming who were supplementing with folic acid:

Figure 3: Proportion of pregnant women who supplemented with folic acid during preconception or pregnancy, Timiskaming, 2012 (Apr-Dec)–2020³⁸

- 2% did so during the preconception period only,
- 57% did so during pregnancy only, and
- 27% did so during both preconception and pregnancy.³⁸



Healthy weight gain during pregnancy

Definition

Weight bias is the "negative social attitudes and beliefs about others based on their body weight, shape and/or size."³⁹



Definition

Weight stigma is the "labelling and stereotyping based on one's body weight, shape and/or size, which stems from weight bias." It leads to prejudice and weight discrimination, which is the "action or decision to treat individuals or a group of people differently based on their body weight, size and/or shape" resulting in negative impacts on health outcomes.³⁹

When considering weight at a societal level, it is important to consider weight bias and weight stigma. Internalized weight stigma results in shame, blame, anxiety, depression, low self-esteem, poor body image and body dissatisfaction leading to subsequent unhealthy weight-control practices, eating disorders and weight gain.³⁹

This section should be interpreted with the awareness that little research has been conducted regarding weight bias and pregnancy.⁴⁰ Recent studies suggest that experiencing weight-related discrimination during pregnancy is linked to excess pregnancy weight gain, weight gain retention and postpartum depression.⁴¹ Furthermore, maternal pre-pregnancy Body Mass Index (BMI) categories are used to evaluate gestational weight gain, predicting pregnancy and birth outcomes. Today, pre-pregnancy BMI is the only available anthropometric indicator recommended by the World Health Organization, Institute of Medicine and Health Canada. Women who are overweight or obese prior to their pregnancy are more likely to gain excessive weight during their pregnancy. Excessive weight gain during pregnancy increases the risk of gestational diabetes, hypertension, complications during labour and delivery and difficulties

losing the extra weight after pregnancy.⁴² Higher gestational weight gain is also associated with increased childhood weight gain and increased risk of the child developing type II diabetes later in life.⁴²

Being underweight increases the risk of maternal complications during pregnancy and the delivery of small and premature newborns.³⁵

BMI is a ratio of weight to height, and is calculated by dividing an individual's weight in kilograms by his or her height in meters squared. *Table 2* provides the percentage of Timiskaming and Ontario women's BMI category pre-pregnancy.³³ There was a lower percentage of pre-pregnancy women who had a normal weight in Timiskaming compared to Ontario, and a higher

BMI category, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2018–2020 ³³			
	Timiskaming	Ontario	
Underweight	4%	5%	
Normal	40%	50%	
Overweight	26%	25%	
Obese	29%	20%	

Table 2: Proportion of mothers by pre-pregnancy

percentage of pre-pregnancy women who were obese in Timiskaming compared to Ontario.

There were also higher percentages of weight gain beyond the recommended amount during pregnancy in Timiskaming, especially in women who were overweight or obese pre-pregnancy. About half of the women who were overweight (54%) or obese (39%) prior to pregnancy gained more weight than was recommended during pregnancy.⁴³

Since there was a large proportion of unknown weight gain values in local data (missing data), this grouping was also illustrated (*Figure 18*).



Figure 4: Pre-pregnancy body mass index categories by weight gain below, within, or above what is recommended in pregnancy, Timiskaming, 2018–2020⁴³

Regardless of their pre-pregnancy weight, 19% of women gained below the recommended weight, 30% of women gained the recommended weight, and 52% gained above the recommended weight.⁴³

Physical activity

Physical activity during pregnancy improves mood and energy level, builds strength for labour and birth and helps with appropriate weight gain, better sleep, constipation, backaches and bloating.⁴⁴

There is no current local information on the physical activity levels of pre-pregnant or pregnant women in Timiskaming.

Preparation for parenting

There are no indicators currently available that directly show how prepared parents and caregivers are for parenting. Attendance at prenatal classes and parents and caregivers expressing concern about their ability to parent their infant are the only indicators available that may provide insight into preparation for parenting.

Prenatal classes

Prenatal classes are designed to provide important pregnancy, birthing and infant care information.

In Timiskaming, 31% of expecting women attended prenatal education (either inperson or the online prenatal class).³³ This includes women who attended an educational session for a previous birth (*Figure 19*). There were errors with the 2018 rate for Timiskaming and that value is omitted in the graph.³³

In 2020 there were no statistical differences between Timiskaming and Ontario.





Concern about ability to parent

In 2018, very few parents or caregivers to new infants expressed concern about their ability to <u>parent</u> their baby.²⁶ Similarly, very few parents or caregivers to new infants expressed concern about their ability to <u>care</u> for their baby.²⁶

Maternal health conditions during pregnancy

Certain conditions can be present or develop during pregnancy, which can pose a risk to the health of both the mother and fetus. The proportion of mothers in Timiskaming who experienced some of the more common conditions is described in more detail below.

Gestational diabetes

In 2018-20, 7% of pregnant women in Timiskaming had gestational diabetes during their pregnancy, which was statistically lower than Ontario's rate of 9%.³³

The rate for Timiskaming statistically increased from 2015-17 to 2018-2020 (*Figure 20*).³³

Figure 20: Proportion of women who had gestational diabetes during their pregnancy, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr-Dec)–2020³³



Maternal hypertension disorder

Between 2018 and 2020, 6% of pregnant women in Timiskaming had a maternal hypertension disorder during pregnancy, which was not statistically different than Ontario's rate of 5%.³³

Neither Timiskaming's nor Ontario's rate statistically changed from 2012-14 to 2018-20 (*Figure 21*).³³

The most common hypertension disorder in Timiskaming was gestational hypertension (69%), followed by preeclampsia (18%).³³

Figure 21: Proportion of women with maternal hypertension disorder, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr-Dec)-2020³³



Mental health concerns

In 2020, 46% of pregnant women in Timiskaming had one or more mental health concern, which was statistically higher than Ontario's rate of 21%.³³

The rates in Timiskaming each year between 2012 and 2020 were statistically higher than Ontario's rate (*Figure 22*). Timiskaming's rates did not statistically increase by year; however, the rates show a more gradual increase. For instance, the 2018, 2019 and 2020 rates were statistically higher than the 2012 rate.³³ Figure 22: Proportion of women with one or more mental health concerns during pregnancy, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2012 (Apr-Dec)–2020³³



In 2020, the most frequent mental health concerns among pregnant or new mothers in Timiskaming were anxiety (54%), depression (31%) and history of postpartum depression (9%).³³

Chapter 4 – General birth outcomes

This section outlines the population-level birth outcomes. Health in the first stage of life is a vital precursor to health in childhood and even extends into adulthood.

Parity

Both first-time mothers and mothers who have already had three or more births are at a higher risk of poor perinatal outcomes.⁴⁵

First-time mothers are at risk of giving birth to low weight infants, having preterm births and giving birth to an infant with underdeveloped uterine and vascular structures. High parity women are at higher risk for poor perinatal outcomes, which may be due to maternal depletion of nutrients and postpartum stress. However, the poorer outcomes due to high parity may also be due to low socioeconomic status and behavioral factors.⁴⁵



Definition

Parity is the number of previous births (both live and stillbirths) a woman has experienced.

In Timiskaming, 38% of birthing women gave birth to their first child, 34% to their second child, 17% to their third or fourth child, and 3% to their fifth child or over.³³

Compared to Ontario, the percentage of women who gave birth in Timiskaming for the first time was statistically lower. The percentage who gave birth two times and five and over times were statistically higher than Ontario (*Figure 23*).³³



Figure 23: Proportion of women who gave birth by parity category, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2019-2020³³

Multiple births



Definition

The multiple birth rate is the total number of live multiple births divided by the total number of births.

Mothers with multiple gestation pregnancies are at an increased risk for poor perinatal outcomes such as anemia, pre-eclampsia, having preterm labour and birth and caesarean delivery. The infants in these pregnancies are also at risk for poor health outcomes such low birth weight, poor fetal growth and perinatal death.⁴⁶

The percentage of multiple births has increased in Canada from 2.2% of total births in 1995 to 3.0% in 2004.⁴⁷ The upward trends in multiple birth rates are likely the result of an increased use of assisted reproductive technology.^{48,49,50} Older women are more likely to have natural multiple gestation

pregnancies and are also at increased risk for infertility, which may increase the usage of assisted reproductive technology.⁵¹

Between 2017 and 2019, 3% of all births in Timiskaming were multiple births, which equates to an average of 6 births per year.¹⁸ *Figure 24* contains the percentage of births that were multiple in Timiskaming and Ontario over time. Timiskaming's rate was higher than Ontario's in 2014-2016 and lower than Ontario's in 2017-2019.¹⁸





Gestational age



Definition

The preterm birth rate is the percentage of live births with a gestational age at birth of less than 37 completed weeks.

The leading cause of death in infants in Canada is prematurity.²² Babies born preterm are at greater risk of cerebral palsy, respiratory failure, gastrointestinal complications, immunologic deficiencies, central nervous system hemorrhage and developmental problems.²² Preterm births can be influenced by behavioural and psychosocial factors, neighbourhood characteristics, environmental exposures, medical conditions, infertility treatments and genetic factors like race and ethnicity.²²

In Timiskaming from 2018 to 2020, most infants (92%) were born at 37 to 41 weeks, which was the same as Ontario's rate of 92%.⁵² The percentage of preterm births was 7%, which was not satistically different from Ontario's rate of 8%.⁵² When preterm births were broken down further, most were in the 34 to 36 weeks (5% for Timiskaming and 6% for Ontario).⁵²

Birth weight



Definition

Low birth weight is expressed as a percentage of all live births between 500 g and 2,500 g. The rate excludes stillbirths and multiple births. Normal birth weight is 2,500 g up to 4,500 g and high birth weight is 4,500 g and over. The data available on birth weight does not align perfectly with the categories defined above; however, these data can still provide insight into birth weight in Timiskaming and Ontario.

Low birth weight is a universal measure associated with premature birth or slow growth of the fetus. It is associated with increased risk of death and developing certain conditions later in life.²²

Low birth weight can be influenced by various factors such as maternal cigarette smoking, genetic factors (including race and ethinicity), nutritional factors, parity and maternal health conditions.²² High birth weight, although less researched, has increased risks for both the mother and infant and may also be influenced by



various factors such as maternal diabetes, genetic predispositions and race and ethnicity.

In 2019-2020, 83% of birth weights in Timiskaming were in the normal weight category,⁵² 6% were underweight and 11% were 4,000 g or over.⁵² None of these percentages were statistically different from Ontario (*Figure 25*).⁵²

Congenital anomalies



Definition

Congenital anomalies, also known as birth defects or congenital malformations, describe an abnormality of structure or function, which is present at birth.

Overall, the number of deaths due to congenital anomalies has been decreasing over time. This decrease may be due to numerous factors such as improved nutrition, prenatal care and recognition of medications linked to congenital anomalies.²² Congential anomalies can be influenced by a wide range of factors such as genetics, environmental exposures, infections, medications, nutrition, maternal health conditions such as obesity and diabetes, age and race.

Between 2018 and 2020, 0.4% of Timiskaming births (including stillbirths and live births) had a congenital anomaly, which was statistically higher than Ontario births with anomalies (0.3%).⁵²

The proportion of various congenital anomalies are not available in Timiskaming due to few congenital anomalies overall; therefore, only Ontario is illustrated in *Figure 26*. Overall, the most common congenital anomaly types in Ontario in 2019-2020 were cardiovascular (35%), genitourinary tract (14%) and skeletal extremities (12%).⁵² It is important to note that these proportions are not mutually exclusive, meaning a baby can have more than one congenital anomaly.



Figure 26: Congenital anomalies present at birth, Ontario, 2019-2020⁵²

Chapter 5 – Infant, child and adolescent health

Infant feeding

Breastfeeding has health benefits for both the child and the mother. The benefits to infants are optimum growth, optimum cognitive development and enhanced immunity.²² The benefits to the mother include reduced postpartum bleeding, improved bone remineralization, reduced risk of breast cancer and a faster return to pre-pregnancy weight.²²

Initiating breastfeeding

In 2020, 85% of mothers in Timiskaming initiated breastfeeding, which was statistically lower than the 94% of Ontario mothers.⁵²

Years where Timiskaming's rates were statistically different from Ontario's are outlined in *Figure* 27.⁵²

Infant feeding 48 hours after birth





In 2017, 66% of mothers were exclusively breastfeeding, 19% of mothers were non-exclusively breastfeeding and 15% were providing formula only at 48 hours after discharge.²³

Mothers who did not exclusively breastfeed were asked to provide their rationale for their infant feeding choice. The most common responses in 2017 were informed parental decision (56%), infant not latching (13%) and not enough milk (10%). Other less common reasons included preterm infant (4%), mother too tired (3%) and hypoglycemia (3%).²³

When mothers were asked about infant feeding support, 95% of mothers stated that after they left the hospital, they knew how to get help with feeding their infant if it were required.²³

Infant feeding 6 months after birth

In 2017, 46% of mothers were providing breast milk (either exclusively or non-exclusively) to their six month old child.²³

Of the mothers who were still breastfeeding their infant at 6 months in 2017 (82 mothers), 39% planned to breastfeed as long as the baby wanted breast milk, 37% planned to breastfeed until the child was 12 to 18 months of age and 11% planned to breastfeed until the child was 6 to 12 months of age.²³

Mothers were asked at what age they started feeding their infant solid foods. The average infant's age when mothers introduced solid foods was 5.4 months. Two months was the youngest, and the majority (66%) were 5.5 months of age or older.²³

Infant, child and adolescent mortality



Definition

A mortality rate is the number of deaths in the population, usually expressed per 100,000 people. For instance, the mortality rate for infants would be the number of infant deaths per 100,000 infants.

Over the last 100 years, infant mortality has been decreasing due to improvements in sanitation, nutrition and child and maternal care. Even with these improvements, infants have a high mortality rate compared to older children mostly due to congenital problems.

Table 3 contains the mortality rates for infants, children and adolescents in Timiskaming and Ontario.⁵³ In general, Timiskaming's mortality rates should be interpreted with caution as there were very few deaths, which resulted in a small sample size. For infants, there was an average of 2 deaths per year, and for those 10 to 19 years of age there was an average of 2 deaths per year.⁵³ Timiskaming's mortality rates for infants and those aged 10 to 19 years were statistically higher than Ontario's rates.

The top causes of death in Timiskaming infants were from congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities (48%), followed by 35% from "certain conditions originating in the perinatal period" (such as complications during pregnancy and delivery, disorders related to the length of gestation and perinatal infections).⁵³ There were too few deaths to calculate the top causes for children aged 1 to 9 years but for children aged 10 to 19 years, the top cause was transportation collisions (45%), followed by intentional self-harm (23%) (*Table 4*).⁵³

Table 3: Infant, child and adolescent mortality, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2006–2015⁵³

Age Group (years)	Timiskaming rate per 100,000	Ontario rate per 100,000
Under 1	737	481
1–9	F	11.7
10–19	52	20.4

^F The estimate failed because there were not enough deaths in this age group to calculate a rate.

Age Group (years)	Timiskaming	Ontario
Under 1	 48% congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities 35% conditions originating in the perinatal period 	 61% conditions originating in the perinatal period 23% congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities
1–9	 Not enough deaths to provide results 	 15% cancers 13% congenital malformations, deformations and chromosomal abnormalities
10–19	45% transportation collisions23% intentional self-harm	 22% transportation collisions 19% intentional self-harm

Table 4: Leading causes of mortality by age, Timiskaming, 2006–2015⁵³

Infant, child and adolescent hospitalization

Hospitalization data provides information on severely ill or injured children who required admission to a hospital. However, a person may be hospitalized more than one time for the same reason or may be discharged from one hospital and transferred to another hospital. Data does not include illnesses or injuries not serious enough to be admitted to a hospital.

Data in the figure below compare infant (under 1 year of age), child (aged 1–9) and adolescent (10–19) hospitalization rates in Timiskaming and Ontario. Infants had the highest hospitalization rate even though hospitalizations for birth were excluded.⁵⁴



Figure 28: Infant, child and adolescent hospitalization rates (per 1,000), Timiskaming, Ontario, 2014–2018⁵⁴

The most common causes of hospitalization for infants in Timiskaming was conditions originating in the perinatal period such as complications during pregnancy and delivery, disorders related to the length of
gestation and perinatal infections, (41%), followed by diseases of the respiratory system (17%).⁵⁴ For children 1 to 9 years of age, the most common causes of hospitalization were diseases of the respiratory system (30%) and injury and accidental poisonings (11%). Finally, for adolescents in Timiskaming, the most common causes of hospitalization were mental and behavioural disorders (37%), followed by injuries and accidental poisonings (13%).⁵⁴ See *Table 5* for more details and Ontario comparisons.

Age Group (years)	Timiskaming	Ontario					
Under 1	 41% conditions originating in the perinatal period 17% diseases of the respiratory system 11% congenital malformations, deformations & chromosomal abnormalities 	 43% conditions originating in the perinatal period 18% diseases of the respiratory system 7% congenital malformations, deformations & chromosomal abnormalities 					
1-9	 30% diseases of the respiratory system 11% injuries & accidental poisonings 11% other symptoms, signs & abnormal clinical & laboratory findings 	 31% diseases of the respiratory system 11% injuries & accidental poisonings 9% certain infectious & parasitic diseases 					
10–19	 37% mental & behavioural disorders 13% injuries & accidental poisonings 11% diseases of the digestive system 11% pregnancy, childbirth & the puerperium 	 25% mental & behavioural disorders 14% diseases of the digestive system 12% injuries & accidental poisonings 					

Table 5: Leading causes for ho	spitalizations by age.	Timiskaming, On	tario, 2014–2018 ⁵⁴
Tubic 5. Eculing causes for no	spitalizations by age,		2014 2010

Childhood injuries

Similar to hospitalizations overall, children in Timiskaming have statistically higher rates of hospitalizations due to injury compared to children in Ontario across all age categories (*Figure 29*).⁵³ The highest rates of hospitalizations due to injuries were seen in older children aged 10–19, with automobile accidents being the leading cause (not shown).

Figure 29: Proportion of children (19 and under) hospitalized due to injuries, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2017⁵³



Early learning and education

Early child experiences form the foundation for a child's development across each of the life stages by influencing physical, social, emotional and cognitive development. This in turn affects several aspects of a child's life such as their ability to learn and overall educational achievement, employment in adulthood and overall health and quality of life. Investments in early child development are powerful equalizers

among children from different socioeconomic backgrounds as it has been observed to provide the greatest gains for the most deprived children.⁵⁵

The Early Development Instrument (EDI) is a Canadian-made early development questionnaire from McMaster University.⁵⁵ The questionnaire is completed by a child's senior kindergarten teacher and is meant to measure a child's ability to meet age-appropriate developmental expectations in five domains of early development. These domains are physical health and wellbeing, social competence, emotional maturity, language and cognitive development and communication skills and general knowledge. All five of these domains are directly and indirectly impacted by a child's environment in their early years (birth up to and including 5 years).⁵⁶ If a child does not meet these age-appropriate expectations in one or more of the domains, they are considered to be "vulnerable" in terms of being at an increased risk of difficulties in school years and beyond. Healthy children who experience appropriate growth and development are more likely to grow up to be healthy in adolescence and adulthood.

In the 2017-2018 school year, 29% of children in Timiskaming were considered vulnerable in at least one EDI domain, which increased from the previous cycle in the 2014-2015 school year (23%).⁵⁵ The increase in vulnerability occurred across all five domains but the only statistically significant increase occurred in the emotional maturity domain. Conversely, the proportion of children in Ontario who were vulnerable did not change substantially between 2014-2015 and 2017-2018, with 29% and 30%, respectively.⁵⁶ In 2017-2018, differences in vulnerability between Timiskaming and Ontario were not statistically significant. (*Figure 30*).





Four of the five domains are further broken down into subdomains, which can be used to ascertain the areas where children are particularly struggling in Timiskaming.

Communication skills and general knowledge

A child's communication skills development is assessed in several areas including storytelling, want and ability to socialize appropriately and having age-appropriate knowledge about life and the world.

In Timiskaming, 9% of children were not meeting expectations in 2017-2018, which was comparable to the 2014-2015 cycle, where 7% of children were not meeting expectations.⁵⁵

In 2017-2018, children in Timiskaming compare closely to children in Ontario, which showed that approximately 10% of children are not meeting expectations in respect to one or multiple of these skills.⁵⁵

Physical health and wellbeing

The subdomains within the physical health and wellbeing domain are 1) physical readiness, 2) physical independence and 3) gross and fine motor skills.

In Timiskaming, 14% of children did not meet expectations in 2017-2018, which was comparable to the 2014-2015 cycle, where 11% of children did not meet expectations.⁵⁵ In 2017-2018, children in Timiskaming were similar to children in Ontario, which shows that approximately 16% of children were not meeting expectations in respect to one or multiple of these skills.⁵⁵

When assessed for gross and fine motor skills, 19% of children were not ready for school. 16% were not ready in terms physical independence.⁵⁵

Social competence

The subdomains within the social competence domain are 1) overall social competence, 2) responsibility and respect, 3) approaches to learning and 4) readiness to explore new things. This domain describes a child's curiosity and eagerness, their knowledge of acceptable behavior, ability to play and work with other children and respect of adults and rules.

Children who start school not ready to learn are at a disadvantage and often never catch up. The degree to which a child is ready to learn at school predicts how well they will do at school.

- Offord Centre for Child Studies

In Timiskaming, 7% of children did not meet expectations in 2017-2018, which is comparable to the 2014-2015 cycle, where 7% of children did not meet expectations.⁵⁵

In 2017-2018, children in Timiskaming were similar to other children in Ontario, which shows that approximately 10% of children were not meeting expectations in respect to one or all of these skills.⁵⁵

When assessed for overall social competence, 13% of children were not ready for school.

Emotional maturity

The subdomains within the emotional maturity domain are 1) prosocial and helping behaviour, 2) anxious and fearful behaviour, 3) aggressive behaviour and 4) hyperactivity and inattentive behaviour. This domain describes a child's ability to express and deal with feelings including fear, anger and empathy.

In 2017-2018, 14% of children in Timiskaming did not meet expectations for emotional maturity, which was statistically higher compared to 2014-2015, where only 6% of children did not meet expectations. Specifically, when assessed for prosocial and helping behaviours, 24% of children were not ready for school and 17% were not ready due to hyperactivity and inattention.⁵⁵

Children in Timiskaming were similar to children in Ontario in 2017-2018, which shows approximately 11% of children are not meeting expectations in respect to one or multiple of these skills.⁵⁵

Language and cognitive development

The subdomains within the language and cognitive development domain are 1) basic literacy, 2) interest in literacy/numeracy and memory, 3) advanced literacy and 4) basic numeracy. This domain includes a child's ability to read, write and remember specific pieces of information, as well as comprehend numeracy and similarities and differences.

In 2017-2018, 8% of children in Timiskaming were not meeting expectations for language and cognitive development. Specifically, when assessed for basic numeracy, 13% of children were not ready for school.⁵⁵ This is comparable to 7% of children who were not meeting expectations in the 2014-2015 cycle.⁵⁵

In 2017-2018, children in Timiskaming were similar to children in Ontario in respect to these skills, with only about 8% of children not meeting expectations in one or multiple of these skills.⁵⁵

Mother or infant does not have a primary care provider

In Canada, access to health care is not equitable, which means that those with higher socioeconomic status have increased access to almost every health service available, despite experiencing better health outcomes and having a decreased need for health care. Ensuring equitable access to effective and appropriate health services can help mitigate the disparities in health outcomes due to the social determinants of health.⁵⁷ Whether or not an individual has a family physician generally determines the access to health care services, especially specialists, in Canada.





In 2019, 7% of infants and/or mothers in Timiskaming did not have a primary care provider, which was statistically higher than the 4% of Ontario infants and/or mothers (*Figure 31*).⁵ For Timiskaming and Ontario, there were no changes in rate over time.⁵

Growth and development

General health

General health indicators can help identify areas of concern in a population, while behavioural indicators can provide a sense of the future health of a population.

This section summarizes some general youth health indicators and indicators for behaviours that are available for Timiskaming's youth. Unfortunately, there were no data available for children under the age of 12 (*Figure 32*).

The only indicator that was statistically different from Ontario was being satisfied or very satisfied with life, where Timiskaming youth were higher than Ontario's youth.⁵⁸





Oral health

Poor oral health increases the risk of periodontal diseases, which in turn increase the risk of respiratory infections, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, poor nutrition, osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis.⁵⁹ There is also a strong link between poor oral health and children living in low-income conditions.⁵⁹

Oral health screening is done in junior kindergarten, senior kindergarten and in some schools for grades 2, 4 and 7. Of the 1,768 students screened in the 2018-19 school year, 186 students (11%) were identified as having a cavity that required urgent care.⁶¹ Figure 33: Proportion of youth aged 12–19 who visited the dentist in the past year, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2015-2016⁶⁰



In Timiskaming, 72%^E of youth aged 12 to 19 visited the dentist in the past year.⁶⁰ This was not statistically different from Ontario's rate (*Figure 33*).⁶⁰

Visual health

Vision is one of the most important senses for child development.

During the 2018-2019 school year, visual screening tests were offered to all senior kindergarten students in Timiskaming. These screening tests provide a means of identifying children with potential risk factors for vision disorders. Overall, there were 289 students screened during the school year, of whom 125 (43%) were referred for further assessment or a vision exam (not shown).⁶¹

School students' vaccination rates

Keeping vaccinations up-to-date protects children and youth from serious infectious diseases by preparing their immune systems to fight off diseases. Up-to-date coverage refers to the percentage of the school pupils who have received the recommended number of doses for each recommended vaccine by the appropriate age. In addition, children with evidence of immunity are considered to be protected, thus are also categorized as up-to-date. Measles, mumps, rubella, diphtheria, polio and tetanus immunization have been required under the Immunization of School Pupil's Act since 1982. In September 2014, pertussis, meningococcal and varicella were added to the Act.

This report excludes children who do not attend traditional schools, such as those being homeschooled or those who attend private schools.

Figure 34 depicts the immunization status in Timiskaming and Ontario school pupils at the end of the 2017-2018 school year. Compared to schools pupils in Ontario, all of the coverage values in Timiskaming were higher, except for hepatitis B and human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccinations.⁶²

Limitations of this data include:

- Students' school records not being up-to-date or accurate; and
- Administrative issues, since immunizations administered by health care providers are not required to be reported to public health.⁶²



Figure 34: Proportion of school pupils who have up-to-date vaccine coverage, Timiskaming, Ontario, 2018-2019⁶²

Because the vaccines mentioned above are required by the *Immunization of School Students Act,* children who do not receive these vaccines need to provide information for a valid exemption. Exceptions to any of these vaccines are classified into two categories, non-medical and medical.

- <u>Non-medical exemptions</u> include exemptions due to a conscientious or religious belief.
- <u>Medical exemptions</u> are usually due to severe allergies to vaccines or components of the vaccines, or immune system disorders.

In the 2017-2018 school year, 3% of 7 year olds in Timiskaming had non-medical exemptions for at least one vaccine. There were no students in Timiskaming who had medical exemptions.⁶¹

Chapter 6 - Physical, chemical and built environments

Although physical, chemical and built environments data are not presented in this report, their importance to reproductive, maternal and child health is vital. Pregnant women and children need their surroundings to be safe, secure and supportive. For instance, mental and physical problems can occur from fetal and child exposure to chemicals in the environment, such as cigarette smoke, medications, lead, etc.⁶³ Children exposed to toxins in utero or during childhood are particularly susceptible.⁶³ Furthermore, the built environment such as walkable neighbourhoods and access to parks and playgrounds, can encourage interaction. This provides opportunities for children to develop physical skills which can lead to lifelong physical activity.⁶³ For these reasons, it is important that physical, chemical and built environments, such as the home, child care settings and neighbourhoods are considered important factors to reproductive and child health.

Climate change implications for children and youth

Climate change impacts health directly through heat-related illnesses and indirectly through increased food insecurity, air pollution, reduced access to clean water and widespread social and economic disruption.^{64,65}

Climate change is projected to impact the health of Timiskaming residents by 2050 in the following ways:

- There will be a 16% increase in skin cancer from exposure to UV radiation from the sun;
- Mosquitoes that spread West Nile Virus will be able to survive in Timiskaming's climate; and
- There will be more than five times as many heat waves.⁶⁶

The average temperature already increased in Ontario by 1.5°C between 1948 and 2008 and is expected to continue to rise by as much as 3°C to 8°C over the next century.⁶⁶ The greatest increases in temperature are projected to occur in Northern Ontario.⁶⁷

Infants and children are more vulnerable to the implications of climate change compared to adults because they metabolize more water, air and food for their body weight.⁶⁸ For instance, infants have an increased risk of morbidity and mortality due to heat because their temperature regulation systems are immature.⁶⁸ Due to higher respiratory rates and immature lungs, infants are also more susceptible to poor air quality.⁶⁸ Furthermore, children who are socioeconomically disadvantaged or who have a chronic condition are also at a greater risk.⁶⁸

Conclusion

This report was designed to highlight how various factors directly and indirectly impact an individual's health status and quality of life throughout the life course. Despite some areas lacking local data, such as nutrition and education attainment specific to mothers, there is evidence to support health initiatives to improve reproductive, maternal and child health outcomes.

Both the mother and the child benefit from having a healthy pregnancy. The health of the mother, child, families and society overall can be improved by interventions that address modifiable risk and protective factors during pregnancy.³¹

Good preconception health can improve both maternal and child health outcomes. In Ontario, approximately 40% of all pregnancies are unplanned, which stresses the importance of identifying, managing, reducing and preventing risk factors even before pregnancy.³¹

Healthy child development encompasses physical, mental, emotional and social wellbeing. Healthy child development is linked to mental and physical health outcomes throughout the life course.

Interventions across the life stages of preconception, pregnancy, newborn, child, youth, parental and family health must also address the negative impact of social determinants that contribute to health inequities. Before birth, there are social determinants of health that can impact the health of the mother and thus impact pregnancy, birth and early childhood health outcomes. As a child reaches adulthood, their health behaviours are impacted by those uncontrollable social determinants of health, which can either increase disparities or create opportunities for success and growth.

The data provided in this report will assist service providers from multiple sectors to continue to build policies, programs and services that lead to enhanced health among Timiskaming's children and families.

It is important to approach addressing reproductive, maternal and child health using evidence informed interventions and also to consider the socio-ecological model, therefore shifting attention away from individual behaviour to the broader societal factors.



About the data sources used in this report

Better Outcomes Registry Network (BORN) collects, interprets and shares data about pregnancy, birth and childhood in Ontario. These data are collected electronically from hospitals, labs, midwifery practice groups and clinical programs. A few cautionary notes to aid in interpreting these data: the fiscal year data for 2012 is not complete province-wide yet and three hospitals in Ontario do not yet submit data (Sunnybrook, Mt. Sinai, and London Health Sciences). When these data are added, there will be fluctuations in Ontario's rates. The 2012 data are only available from April to December. All Ontario values for 2020 may fluctuate as data is completed reconciled by June 30 and these data were extracted mid to end May.

The **Canadian Community Health Survey** is a cross-sectional survey by Statistics Canada which collects health information about the Canadian population. It surveys a large number of respondents and was designed to provide reliable estimates at the health region level. CCHS data are collected from people aged 12 and over living in private dwellings. The survey excludes individuals living on-reserve and on Crown lands, institutional residents and full-time members of the Canadian Forces.

The **Infant Feeding Surveillance System** data were collected using voluntary telephone or in-person surveys conducted by Timiskaming Health Unit's Public Health Nurses. All Timiskaming mothers who consented to participate were surveyed at three time points: 48 hours after hospital discharge, when their baby was 2 months of age, and when their baby was 6 months of age.

Participation rates were calculated by comparing our respondents to the known number of new mothers in the area. The largest reason for mothers not participating was being unable to be contacted by telephone and only a small portion of mothers declined to participate. Due to some mothers not participating, it is estimated that the initiation, 48 hours, 2 month and 6 month data for each year are accurate within plus or minus the percentage noted under 'margin of error' in Table 1.

IntelliHEALTH is an analytical tool that provides access to various sources of data such as health services data (hospital emergency department visits, hospitalizations, inpatient mental health, complex continuing care, etc.), medical services, vital statistics (births and deaths) and population estimates and projections. Each source of data has specific cautionary notes and these are included throughout the text.

The 2016 Census is a mandatory survey that collects demographic and linguistic information on all permanent and non-permanent people living in Canada at the time of the Census. The Census uses various forms to collect information. A short form is used to collect data from private dwellings such as age, sex, relationship to household members and language. A long form is completed by 25% of private dwellings and includes the following topics: activities of daily living, sociocultural information, mobility, place of birth, education, labour market activities and housing. There are also different forms used to enumerate residents of collective dwellings. Income variables were created by linking 2015 tax-filer and other administrative data from the Canada Revenue Agency to the short form Census respondents.

Throughout this report, collective dwelling statistics are excluded unless otherwise noted. The short and long form non-response rate was 7.1% for Timiskaming, 6.8% for the North East Local Integration Network and 4.7% for Ontario.

Appendix A: Timiskaming Heath Unit boundaries

The Timiskaming Health Unit's boundaries are not the same as the Timiskaming District. When compared to the District of Timiskaming, the Health Unit boundaries also include the municipality of Temagami and the following townships: Ben Nevis, Bisley, Clifford, Pontiac, Clement and Scholes. Furthermore, the health unit catchment area does not include the following Timiskaming District townships: Childerhose, Douglas, Doyle, Fripp, Geikie, Hillary, McArthur, McKeown, Musgrove, Pharand and Reynolds.⁶⁹

ſ	ELOORADO	LANGMUIR	BLACKSTOCK	THUMINS	McEVAN	TOLSTOI	BLACK	BENCIT	MELBA	BISLEY	CLIFFORD	BEN NEVIS	PONTIAC	
1	couques	FALLON	FASKEN	MUCHIE	NORDICA	TERRY	LEE	MAISON- VILLE	BERN- HARDI	MORRISETTE	ARNOLD.	KATRINE	OSSIAN	
	GEIRE	CLEAVER	MONEIL	ROBERTSON	SHEBA	DUNMORE	BOMPAS	CRIMPELL .	Kirk TECK Swastik	LEBEL	GAUTHIES	McVITTE Larde	Virg	town
	ZAVITZ	HINCKS	ARGYLE	BADEN	ALMA	HOLMES	BURT	EBY	0110	BOSTON	WELROY	HEARST	MEFADDE	
	HUT	WONTROSE	BANNOCK- BURN	POWELL	CAIRO Matache	FLAVELLE	GROSS	BLAIN	MARQUIS	PINCAUD	CATHARINE	SKEAD	RATTRAY	
100	HALLIDAY	MIDLOTHIAN	DOON	YARROW	KIMBERLEY	WILLISON	DAVIDSON	SHARPE	SAVARD	tur, 573	MARTER	BAYLY	MULUGAI	DUE
	MOND	RAYMOND	RANKIN	MOREL	SHILLINGTON	FARR	SMYTH	TRUAX	ROBILLARD	DACK	EVANTURE	Tomstown L INGRAM	PENSE	BEC
	NATAL	KNIGHT	VAN HISE	HAULTAIN	CHOWN	MUCKLE	Elk Lake	TUDHOPE	BRYCE	BEAUCHAMP		HILLIARE	BRETHOU	
	MACMURCH	TYRRELL	MILNER	Gowgan	LAWSON	ROADHOUSI	WILLET	BARBER	Hwy. CANE	65 Kenabe HENWOOD	A COLOR	S HARLEY	CASEY	C
	FAINCETT	LEONARD	LEITH	CHARTERS	CORKILL	WALLIS	BANKS	SPEIGHT	AULD	LUNDY	HUDSON	aming hores	J	2
	OGILVIE	NORTH	RAY	DONOVAN	BREWSTER	TRETHEWEY	WHITSON	VAN	RLOCK	BARR	FIRSTBRO	DK BUCKE	obalt	
	BROWNING	DUFFERIN	LECKIE	CORLEY	GAMBLE	McGIFFIN	RORKE	160	DANE	KITTSON	COLEMAN	atchford	14-	Se .
	UNWIN	STULL	McLEOD	/HUIS	PARKER	SELBY	SLADEN	MEDINA	COLE	BRIGSTO	K. Ash	GILLE		
	aLEXEK		HAENTSCHEL	SELICIRK	DUNDEE	ACADIA .	SHELBURN	CANTON	ASTON	BANTING	BEST	Y	SOU	
	McNAMARA	CORTON	HOWEY	MARCONI	TURNER	SEAGRAM	DELHI	SE ROCHE	CYNTHIA	CHAMBERS	STRATH	CASSES		<u> </u>
	BEAUWONT	BERESFORD	68166	STOBIE	EMOREST	CLARY	ARMAGH	EUTAST	JOAN	BRIGGS	1	NA RIDOEL		E HEBERT
ſ	100000000	Contraction Contraction	n Unit	y	eocoeen.	54049-440			E K)-		BORGET
	Timiskaming				anchelican	MUCARDAY	MACRETH	r t	19 m	Toronacito	i am			
	District Timiskaming Health Unit Area			-	MELL?		5 matrice 0	HOREE		E			AM LA SALLE	
				204221	Laughten		F	-		704				
L				-1		-	RATES	mat	BADOLENOW		20) ()		-
					Contract of the					5		-	and the second second	

References

² Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (n.d.). *Protecting and promoting the health of Ontarians - Ontario public health standards: requirements for programs, services, and accountability.*

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/default.aspx. Accessed August 2019.

³ Public Health Ontario. (2019). *Health equity*. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/health-topics/health-equity</u>. Accessed August 2019.

⁴ Moore, T., McDonald, M., Carlon, L., & O'Rourke K. (2015). Early childhood development and the social eterminants of health inequities. *Health Promotion International, Vol. 30*, No. S2, ii102–ii115. <u>https://academic.oup.com/heapro/article/30/suppl 2/ii102/643035</u>. Accessed Jul 2019.

⁵ Public Health Ontario. (n.d.). Snapshots: *Risk factors for healthy child development snapshot: healthy child development* <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/reproductive-and-child-health/healthy-, child-development</u>. Accessed May 17, 2021.

⁶ Mikkonen J., & Raphael D. (2010). *Social determinants of health: the Canadian facts.* Toronto, York University School of Health Policy and Management. <u>https://www.thecanadianfacts.org/The Canadian Facts.pdf</u> Accessed Jul 2019.

⁷ Statistics Canada. (2017). *Census profile, Timiskaming Health Unit, [health region, December 2017], Ontario and Ontario* (table). 2016 Census. Statistics Canada catalogue no. 98-316-X2016001. Ottawa. Released November 29, 2017. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-</u>

pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=HR&Code1=3563&Geo2=PR&Code2=35&SearchText=timiskaming%20he alth%20unit&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&TABID=1&type=0. Accessed June 7, 2018.

⁸ Statistics Canada. (2017). *Dictionary, Census of population, 2016 table 4.2 low-income measures thresholds for private households of Canada, 2015*. <u>https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/tab/t4_2-eng.cfm</u>. Accessed August 8, 2018.

⁹ PROOF Food Insecurity Policy Research. (n.d.) *Household food insecurity in Canada*. <u>https://proof.utoronto.ca/food-insecurity/</u>. Accessed October 30, 2018.

¹⁰ Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey 2009/10, 2011/12, 2013/14. Share Files, Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

¹¹ Timiskaming Health Unit. (2019). *Cost of a nutritious food basket (family of four)*.

¹² National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. (2010). *The foundations of lifelong health are built in early childhood*.<u>https://46y5eh11fhgw3ve3ytpwxt9r-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2010/05/Foundations-of-Lifelong-Health.pdf. Accessed May 5, 2021.

¹³ Ontario Human Rights Commission. (2016). Policy on ableism and discrimination based on disability. <u>http://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/policy-ableism-and-discrimination-based-disability</u>. Accessed October 23, 2018.

¹⁴ Tarasoff, L. A., Lunsky, Y., Chen, S., Guttmann, A., Havercamp, S. M., Parish, S. L., Vigod, S. N., Carty, A., & Brown, H. K. (2020). Preconception health characteristics of women with disabilities in Ontario: a population-based cross-sectional study. 29(12) *Journal of Women's Health*. <u>http://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2019.8273</u>. Accessed May 4, 2021.

¹⁵ Statistics Canada. (2012). A profile of persons with disabilities among Canadians aged 15 years or older. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2015001-eng.htm</u>. Accessed October 23, 2018.

¹⁶ BORN Information System. (2012-2020). BORN births report. Accessed in May 2021.

¹⁷ Timiskaming Health Unit. (2000-2012), Data from birth notifications.

¹⁸ Public Health Ontario. (2021). Snapshots: reproductive health snapshot 2006-2019 – maternal health. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/reproductive-and-child-health/reproductive-health</u>. <u>Accessed May 17, 2021.</u>

¹ Public Health Ontario. (2021). *Maternal and infant health*. <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/health-topics/health-promotion/maternal-infant-health</u>. Accessed May 2021.

¹⁹ Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Therapeutic abortion summary (DAD, NACRS, CHDB), inpatient discharges 2016-18. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population estimates 2016. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population projections 2017-18. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

²⁰ Statistics Canada. 2016. *Life expectancy*. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-229-x/2009001/demo/lif-eng.htm</u>. Accessed Apr 2019.

²¹ Statistics Canada. Table 13-10-0389-01 *Life expectancy, at birth and at age 65, by sex, three-year average, Canada, provinces, territories, health regions and peer groups.*

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310038901&pickMembers%5B0%5D=2.1&pickMembers%5B1%5D=3.1&pickMembers%5B2%5D=4.1&cubeTimeFrame.startYear=2015+%2F+2017&cubeTimeFrame.endYe ar=2015+%2F+2017&referencePeriods=20150101%2C20150101. Accessed May 2021.

²² Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). *Canadian perinatal health report*. Ottawa: 2008. <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/publicat/2008/cphr-rspc/pdf/cphr-rspc08-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed May 2019.

²³ Timiskaming Health Unit infant feeding surveillance survey - April 2012 to December 2017. Accessed March 2018.

²⁴ Timiskaming Health Unit. (2018). *Timiskaming health stats - demographic report for the Timiskaming Health Unit area*.

²⁵ Public Health Agency of Canada. (2012). *What makes Canadians healthy or unhealthy*. <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ph-sp/determinants/determinants-eng.php#income</u>. Accessed August 2019.

²⁶ Timiskaming Health Unit healthy babies healthy children data from ISCIS, retrieved through IRSS. Accessed August 20, 2019.

²⁷ Matheson F.I. (2018). *2016 Ontario marginalization index*. Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario) Providence St. Joseph's and St. Michael's Healthcare.

²⁸ Best Start Resource Centre. (n.d.). *Update report on teen pregnancy prevention*. Toronto, Ontario, Canada. <u>https://www.beststart.org/resources/rep_health/pdf/teen_pregnancy.pdf</u>. Accessed May 10, 2021.

²⁹ Best Start Resource Centre. (2013). *Pimotisiwin: A good path for pregnant and parenting aboriginal teens*. Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Available at <u>https://resources.beststart.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/E39-A.pdf</u>. Accessed May 10, 2021.

³⁰ Public Health Ontario. (2019). *Snapshots: reproductive health snapshot 2006-2019 – average age of mothers, 2017*). <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/reproductive-and-child-health/reproductive-health</u>. Accessed Aug 6, 2019.

³¹ Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2018). *Healthy growth and development guideline*. ISBN 978-1-4868-0798-7 Queen's Printer of Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

³² Public Health Agency of Canada. (2014). *Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder*. <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/dca-dea/prog-ini/fasd-etcaf/index-eng.php</u>. Accessed Aug 2019.

³³ BORN Information System. (2012-2020). BORN pregnancy report. Accessed in May 2021.

³⁴ MERCK Manual Consumer Version. (2015). Drug use during pregnancy. <u>http://www.merckmanuals.com/home/women-s-health-issues/drug-use-during-pregnancy/drug-use-during-pregnancy</u>. Accessed July 30, 2015.

³⁵ Brown, J. E. (2005). *Nutrition through the Life Cycle*, 2nd ed. 2005. Wadsworth Cengage Learning. Toronto.

³⁶ Health Canada. (2004). *Vitamin D Supplementation for Breastfed Infants – Questions and Answers for Professionals*. <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/nutrition/infant-nourisson/vita_d_ga-qr-eng.php.</u> Accessed 2019.

³⁷ Health Canada. (2007). *Eating well with Canada's food guide: a resource for educators and communicators*. <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/food-guide-aliment/educ-comm/resource-ressource-eng.php</u>. Accessed 2019. ³⁸ BORN Information System. (2021). *Ontario folic acid supplementation by women who gave birth: public health unit analytic reporting tool (cube) 2012-2020 data, BORN Information System, BORN Ontario.* Accessed May 18, 2021

³⁹ Puhl R.M., Andreyeva T., & Brownell K.D. (2008). Perceptions of weight discrimination: prevalence and comparison to race and gender discrimination in America. *International journal of obesity*. 32(6), 992-1000.

⁴⁰ Rodriguez A.C., Smieszek S.M., Nippert K.E., & Tomiyama A.J. (2020) Pregnant and postpartum women's experiences of weight stigma in healthcare. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*. 20(1), 1-0.

⁴¹ Incollingo Rodriguez, A. C., Dunkel Schetter, C., & Tomiyama, A. J. (2020). Weight stigma among pregnant and postpartum women: a new context of stigmatization. *Stigma and Health*, 5(2), 209–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000191</u>

⁴² Health Canada. (2010). *Prenatal guidelines for health professionals: gestational weight gain*. <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/nutrition/prenatal/ewba-mbsa-eng.php</u>

⁴³ BORN Information System. (2019). *Maternal BMI group O1 by maternal weight gain recommended groups: public health unit analytic reporting tool (cube): BORN Information System, BORN Ontario.* Accessed May 2021.

⁴⁴ Public Health Agency of Canada. (2021). *Your guide to a healthy pregnancy*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/health-promotion/healthy-pregnancy/healthy-pregnancy-guide.pdf</u>. Accessed May 11, 2021

⁴⁵ Canadian Institute for Health Information.(2009). *Too early, too small: a profile of small babies across Canada*. Ottawa, ON. <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/too_early_too_small_en.pdf</u>

⁴⁶ Lee Y.M., Cleary-Goldman J., & D'Alton M.E. (2006). The impact of multiple gestations on late preterm (near-term) births. *Clin Perinatol*. 33(4), 777,92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clp.2006.09.008</u>

⁴⁷ Public Health Agency of Canada. (2008). *Canadian perinatal health report, 2008 edition*. Ottawa. Accessed <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/2008/cphr-rspc/pdf/cphr-rspc08-eng.pdf</u>

⁴⁸ Blondel B., Kogan M.D., Alexander G.R., Dattani N., Kramer M.S., Macfarlane A., & Wen S.W. (2002). The impact of the increasing number of multiple births on the rates of preterm birth and low birthweight: an international study. *Am J Public Health*. 92(8),1323-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.8.1323</u>

⁴⁹ Brinsden P.R. (2003). Controlling the high order multiple birth rate: the European perspective. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 6(3), 339-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1472-6483(10)61854-8</u>

⁵⁰ Martin J.A., & Park M.M. (1999). Trends in twin and triplet births: 1980-97. *Natl Vital Stat Rep.* 47(24), 1-16. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11968567/</u>

⁵¹ Alexander G.R., Slay Wingate M., Salihu H., & Kirby R.S. (2005). Fetal and neonatal mortality risks of multiple births. *Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am.* 32(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2004.10.005</u>

⁵² BORN Information System. (2012-2020). *BORN newborn*. Accessed in May 2021.

⁵³ Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Ontario mortality data 2006-2015 Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population estimates 2006-2015. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

⁵⁴ Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Inpatient discharges 2014-2018. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population estimates 2014-2016. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Population projections 2017-2018. Intellihealth Ontario. Accessed August 2019.

⁵⁵ Public Health Sudbury & Districts. (2020). *10 Promising Practices*. <u>https://www.phsd.ca/health-topics-programs/health-equity/10-promising-practices-health-equity</u>. Accessed October 23, 2018.

⁵⁶ Early Development Instrument. *Summary Report: Senior Kindergarten Students in the Province of Ontario: Timiskaming School Year 2017/2018.*

⁵⁷ Canadian Medical Association. (2018). CMA position statement: ensuring equitable access to care: strategies for governments, health system planners, and the medical profession.

https://policybase.cma.ca/en/permalink/policy11062# ga=2.262994254.311003957.1620740298-1753431297.1620740298

⁵⁸ Statistics Canada. (2021) Canadian community health survey 2017/18, CANSIM table 13-10-0113-01. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/1310011301-eng</u>. Accessed May 17,2021.

⁵⁹ Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2012). More than just cavities: a report by Ontario's Chief Medical Officer of Health.

https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/oral_health/oral_health.aspx#:~:text=A %20Report%20by%20Ontario's%20Chief%20Medical%20Officer%20of%20Health&text=Dr.,more%20needs%20to %20be%20done.&text=In%20her%20report%2C%20%22Oral%20Health,Than%20Just%20Cavities%2C%22%20Dr.

⁶⁰ Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey 2015/16, share files, Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

⁶¹ Timiskaming Health Unit. (n.d.). Internal statistics: 2018-19 for kindergarten vision and oral health screening.

⁶² Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2019). *Immunization coverage report for school pupils in Ontario: 2017–18 school year*. Toronto, ON, Queen's Printer for Ontario.

⁶³ Peel Public Health. (2018). Nurturing the next generation strategic directions 2018-2023.
 <u>https://www.peelregion.ca/health/resources/pdf/NTNG-2018-2023-report.pdf</u>. Accessed May 10, 2021.

⁶⁴ Rudolph L., Harrison C., Buckley L., & North S. (2018). *Climate change, health, and equity: a guide for local health departments.* Oakland, CA and Washington, DC, Public Health Institute and American Public Health Association. <u>https://www.apha.org/-/media/files/pdf/topics/climate/climate_health_equity.ashx</u>

⁶⁵ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, (2014). *Climate effects on health*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/effects/default.htm</u>. Accessed May 2019.

⁶⁶ Gough W., Anderson V., & Herod K. (2016). *Ontario climate change and health modelling study: report*. Toronto, ON, Queen's Printer for Ontario.

https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/climate change toolkit/climate change e health modelling study.pdf

⁶⁷ Colombo S.J., McKenney D.W., Lawrence K.M., Gray P.A. (2007). *Climate change projections for Ontario: practical information for policymakers and planners.* Canada. <u>https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/21141379</u>

⁶⁸ Buka, I., & Shea, K. M. (2019). *Global climate change and health in Canadian children*. Canadian Pediatric Society. <u>https://www.cps.ca/en/documents/position/global-climate-change</u>. Accessed August 2019.

⁶⁹ Service Ontario. (1990). *Health Protection and Promotion Act R.R.O. Regulation 553 Areas Comprising Health Units* <u>http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/regs/english/elaws_regs_900553_e.htm.</u> Accessed May 2021.